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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Good afternoon.

          3  My name is James Sanders, Jr. And I'm the Chair of

          4  the Economic Development Committee for the City

          5  Council.

          6                 I'm very happy to join my fellow

          7  Council Member Gale Brewer, the illustrious Gale

          8  Brewer, as co-host of this hearing.  She deserves

          9  all of our appreciation for the work that she and

         10  her committee have done on the issue of electronic

         11  procurement reform.

         12                 As Gale has said, the goal of today's

         13  hearing is to listen to testimony on Resolution 744.

         14  I am a co sponsor of this resolution which advocates

         15  common-sense changes that will help our city operate

         16  more efficiently while supporting an industry that

         17  is a vital sector of our local economy.

         18                 The software and technology industry

         19  has suffered numerous setbacks in recent years, but

         20  our tech community remains and will continue to be a

         21  major engine or economic growth for New York City.

         22  Yet without our active support we risk losing

         23  economic benefits that will rebound for years to

         24  come.

         25                 I am particularly interested in the
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          2  proposed expansion of the Department of Small

          3  Business Services, bid match e- mail notification

          4  system.  This appears to be a win-win situation for

          5  the city and local business.  No real cost city

          6  savings on city contracts or more opportunity for

          7  local business.

          8                 On that note, I look forward to

          9  today's testimony.

         10                 I would be remiss if I did not name

         11  who was here at today's hearing.  Of course, we have

         12  from Brooklyn, Council Member Eric Dilan.  We also

         13  have as Council members besides Council Member

         14  Brewer, who you'll hear from shortly, Brooklyn

         15  again, Council Member Yvette Clarke.

         16                 I believe that we're going to round

         17  this out by the newest member of the City Council's

         18  Committee on Economic Development, Committee Member

         19  Pedro Espada, Jr.  Welcome aboard.  Is there

         20  anything you want to say?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  Thank you for

         22  that introduction, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you.  You're

         23  most gracious.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Those were your

         25  first words on this committee.  I have the feeling
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          2  it won't be your last.

          3                 Without further ado, Council Member

          4  Brewer.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

          6  much.  I see we've been joined by Council Member

          7  Alan Gerson from Manhattan.

          8                 Today we're going to be talking about

          9  Resolution 744.  It's based on our prior work in

         10  this committee, the Select Committee on Technology

         11  in Government, but also working with the Contracts

         12  Committee which is chaired by Council Member Jackson

         13  and also, of course, by the Economic Development

         14  Committee.

         15                 We're here today to call on the City

         16  to improve the way that it communicates with local

         17  companies in procuring over $8 billion worth of

         18  goods and services every single year.  We have some

         19  specific recommendations that came out of [both a

         20  hearing] And then were translated into a report that

         21  has actually gotten, I think, a great deal of

         22  publicity.  The hearing, in particular, was

         23  interesting because we brought in, thanks to Nick

         24  Noe, who deserves all of the credit, not me.  He's

         25  the Policy Analyst for the committee.  We brought in
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          2  people from around the country who are the e-

          3  procurement offices for the respective states.  They

          4  were very innovative, talking about what they're

          5  doing in their states.

          6                 What we want to do is take some of

          7  their suggestions and then create some of our own.

          8  What we want to think about in terms of our own

          9  software, but also any company, really, is to think

         10  of ways in which we can use existing technologies,

         11  but particularly e- mail, focus on the City's

         12  NYC.Gov. Website to improve local awareness of city

         13  procurement opportunities.

         14                 We had an example recently, which I'm

         15  sure our speakers will talk about where the police

         16  department procured with a company that is

         17  California based to do some auctioning.  Although I

         18  have nothing against the State of California, as I

         19  said earlier I feel strongly that there are

         20  companies here in New York who could, if informed

         21  about the procurement process, could have delivered

         22  just as effectively, if not more so.

         23                 So, that's why we're talking today

         24  about buy New York and including in that Resolution

         25  744, talking about ways that we can use e-
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          2  procurement.  We can always save money through some

          3  of these recommendations, something that's of

          4  paramount concern, particularly today.  Reducing

          5  printing costs, increasing the number of bidders for

          6  city contracts.  If you do that, you will have a

          7  more cost effective bid and then you will drive down

          8  the prices of goods and services for the people of

          9  the City of New York.              One of the

         10  problems is that notices of city contracts, if they

         11  come in the form of requests for proposal or just

         12  plain bids, are not available for downloading on

         13  NYC.Gov.  They're usually mailed or, in some cases,

         14  only available at city agencies.  That is not true

         15  in many other states around this country, so we need

         16  to make them available online and available to be

         17  answered online.

         18                 There are many examples along these

         19  lines. As the Chairman indicated, the Department of

         20  Small Business is already doing that with some

         21  contracts and they should, in fact, do it with other

         22  contracts.  The City's internet portal, Buy Wise,

         23  contains a searchable catalogue for requirements

         24  contracts but does not contain an external vendor

         25  catalogue interface for procurement officers.  We
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          2  have something in New York called intranet and

          3  that's how many of the procurement officers get

          4  their information, but that information is not

          5  available externally.  And the list goes on which

          6  you can see from the material that we will be glad

          7  to provide.

          8                 As Bruce Bernstein said, who will

          9  testify later as head of the New York Software

         10  Industry Alliance, let our tech companies compete,

         11  because if they do and if we as a city buy New York

         12  we will be successful on all fronts. Thank you very

         13  much, Mr. Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  And on that

         15  we'll call our first two witnesses, Mr. Bernstein

         16  and Mr. Friedman.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you very

         18  much. If you would be kind enough to identify

         19  yourself for our records.

         20                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  I'm Bruce

         21  Bernstein. I'm President of NYSIA, which is the New

         22  York Software Industry Association.  It's the

         23  largest high- tech trade association in New York

         24  City and we have member companies, about 650 member

         25  companies mostly in the software and information
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          2  technology space.

          3                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  I'm Adam Friedman.

          4  I'm Executive Director of the New York Industrial

          5  Retention Network, a citywide economic development

          6  organization that's dedicated to strengthening the

          7  manufacturing sector, to saving blue collar jobs and

          8  promoting a diverse economy in the City of New York.

          9                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you.  Thank you

         10  very much, Chairman Sanders, Chairwoman Brewer,

         11  Councilman Dilantin and Clarke, Councilman Gerson --

         12  is he still here, who is an old friend and has had a

         13  great interest in our industry, and Councilman

         14  Espada, who is an old friend as well and has, from

         15  my personal knowledge, had an interest in the

         16  software industry going back at least 20 years.

         17  We're very glad to see you there.

         18                 First, I think your proposal, as I

         19  just stated in the press conference, the three

         20  various suggestions in your proposal stand on their

         21  own merits.  I just would add that I think they

         22  represent very advanced thinking as far as municipal

         23  governments, state governments, both, domestically

         24  and internationally.  We support these proposals and

         25  I want to add some supplemental material or some
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          2  supplemental remarks to what I think is some very

          3  well thought out suggestions.

          4                 In the press conference in her

          5  opening remarks Chairwoman Brewer mentioned the NYPD

          6  bidding experience.  It's a good example.  I don't

          7  know if the particular contract should have gone to

          8  a California company.  The particular contract was

          9   -- you know, maybe it should and maybe it

         10  shouldn't.  I have no way of knowing. Let's give

         11  them the benefit of the doubt that this was the best

         12   -- that this was the best company.

         13                 The particular contract represented

         14  an online auction of goods seized from drug dealers,

         15  so the police department is getting a certain amount

         16  of revenue now from selling these at face- to- face

         17  auctions.  They want to do an e- bay type of thing

         18  and they want to increase the revenue, so they let

         19  this contract out to bid.  It's one of -- you quoted

         20  a figure of $8 billion for the city.  That's not

         21  just government, though.  My understanding is

         22  government is $750 million per year in procurement?

         23  Well, that's just a very small part of the 750

         24  million per year in government procurement and the

         25  huge amount of procurement that goes on in the
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          2  private sector and in the not- for- profit sector

          3  outside of government.

          4                 We took a brief poll last night

          5  regarding the NYPD contract at a membership meeting.

          6    There were 80 companies at the membership meeting.

          7    Fourteen said they would have been interested in

          8  either bidding or assessing whether they could bid

          9  the contract.  Of those 14 only two were aware of

         10  the RFP.  So, that's one- seventh or approximately

         11  14%.  Of course, it's a brief, seat- of- the pants

         12  poll, but my gut is that that's accurate.  I don't

         13  think the word is getting out there for New York

         14  City companies.  I want to emphasize what we're

         15  saying, which is that we believe fully that New York

         16  City companies can compete.

         17                 There is a problem right now with

         18  overseas outsourcing.  A lot of jobs are going

         19  overseas and we cannot afford to lose this sector.

         20  As you pointed out, Mr. Chairman, the sector was a

         21  huge growth area in the 1990s. It actually drove a

         22  lot of the economic development growth in the city.

         23  We added jobs during the 1990s at the rate of 15%

         24  per year, both in terms of number of companies and

         25  number of jobs in this sector.  That is no longer
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          2  happening. It's not happening for a variety of

          3  reasons including the overall downturn in the sector

          4  and, of course, the effects of 9/11 have an impact.

          5  But, also, overseas outsourcing is playing a major

          6  role.  Unfortunately, what's happening is companies,

          7  government and others are looking overseas first,

          8  not saying the overseas are no good.  I'm not saying

          9  that they should -- that in any way we should have

         10  protectionist measures.  I'm saying everybody has to

         11  look at the local companies and just give the local

         12  companies a chance and you will find that the local

         13  companies are able to compete. They're able to

         14  compete on price and they're able to compete on

         15  quality for a number of reasons that I won't go into

         16  now, but it is true.

         17                 In terms of some of your suggestions

         18   -- so, we do support the -- we do support having

         19  more government emphasis into building the sector

         20  and into the Economic Development Committee and

         21  agencies paying more attention to our sector and

         22  recognizing that we're here.  I want to point out

         23  that every region, not only in the country but in

         24  the world, is competing for these jobs.  We did well

         25  in the '90s, let's not lose it, let's continue to
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          2  pay attention to this sector.

          3                 In terms of some of your proposals

          4  regarding e- mail and e- procurement, I just want to

          5  say in terms of getting these RFPs out, NYSIA puts

          6  out an e- mail newsletter. We don't do any paper

          7  communications at all.  The number of paper

          8  communications we do is very, very little.  We have

          9  two communications vehicles.  One is our newsletter,

         10  the NYSIA Hot Wire, which comes out once a week.

         11  The second is our website.  Our website gets a

         12  thousand hits a day or so from members.  That's been

         13  growing.  It might actually be a little higher.  The

         14  size of our newsletter is 6,000 people in the

         15  industry.  If this channel was used for procurement,

         16  you would automatically gain in the number of

         17  companies that are responding.  Once again, the

         18  website is another way that we would encourage you

         19   -- we would encourage the City to take advantage of

         20  in terms of procurement.

         21                 We have an online searchable

         22  membership directory.  Approximately half of our 650

         23  member companies are in it.  We're always looking to

         24  expand that and we want to make that a vehicle -- we

         25  want to make that a vehicle for procurement.
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          2                 So once again -- I'll stop now.  I

          3  want to thank the entire committee and all the

          4  Council people who've taken an interest.  I think I

          5  might have missed Councilwoman Clarke in the

          6  beginning, I'm not sure.  Thank you all for your

          7  interest in this industry and we look forward to

          8  working with you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I just want to

         10  clarify the number.  The procurement for the

         11  software is 750, but the entire city is 8 billion

         12  for all the goods and services.

         13                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Thank you very much.

         14  As I said at the beginning, New York City, NYIRN,

         15  the New York Industrial Retention Network is a

         16  citywide economic development organization that

         17  seeks to promote a diverse economy that includes a

         18  healthy manufacturing sector.  We're happy to

         19  endorse this resolution.  You might ask why, what is

         20  manufacturing got to do with promoting the use of

         21  software developed in New York City.  Buying local

         22  is an important concept and an important method to

         23  incorporate in city procurement.

         24                 New York City's economy, if it were

         25  an independent country, would be $44 trillion.  That
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          2  places us on a par with an economy of Australia.

          3  What we're trying to do here is make those dollars

          4  circulate a little bit longer to create jobs.  Every

          5  million dollars in new sales creates abut 16 jobs in

          6  the local economy.

          7                 NYIRN works with -- there are about

          8  11,000 manufacturers in New York City. NYIRN works

          9  with about 300 companies a month -- a year, excuse

         10  me.  We are the potential buyers in this

         11  collaboration with the New York Software

         12  Association.  We're also the potential sellers.

         13  Every time they furnish an office, every time they

         14  have an event, they could be using New York

         15  manufacturers, so we're happy to engage in a

         16  collaboration.                The point here is just

         17  we stand or fall together.

         18                 Councilman Sanders in the beginning

         19  in his opening remarks described this as a win- win

         20  situation and that is completely the case.  We have

         21  a similar initiative, the Made in NYC campaign.

         22  It's a business- to- business marketing effort.

         23  There are about 200 manufacturers that are now

         24  signed up for it.  I think your efforts in terms of

         25  getting better information out about city
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          2  procurement will work to their benefit, every

          3  company in the city, but manufacturers in

          4  particular.  We've begun to have discussions with

          5  the Department of Small Business Services about how

          6  to use more New York City manufacturers to provide

          7  goods to the city.

          8                 Other jurisdictions, you know, that

          9  same size, the $44 trillion economy, while it works

         10  to our benefit, it also works to our detriment in

         11  some ways.  New York is just a more complicated

         12  place to do business, and I think a lot of this

         13  local procurement probably happens naturally in

         14  smaller cities.  Everyone simply knows each other.

         15  But in New York you have to take the extra step. You

         16  have to go the distance a little bit more.  So,

         17  we're pleased to endorse the Buy New York campaign.

         18  We're happy to collaborate with Bruce.  We hope to

         19  link up our websites together and we look forward to

         20  working with the City Council on this initiative.

         21  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Mr. Friedman is

         23  no stranger to testifying here.  In fact, I believe

         24  he's sitting in his usual chair.  We've been joined

         25  by, of course, Council Member Diana Reyna of
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          2  Brooklyn.  I'm going to yield my first question to

          3  Gale Brewer.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

          5  much. One question for both of you is how has

          6  overseas outsourcing hurt some of your companies or

          7  has it?

          8                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Yeah, it's a major

          9  issue. One thing that's going on is our customers,

         10  who are also in the industry, they're in the IT

         11  Departments of the major banks and the major

         12  brokerage houses, especially in the financial

         13  sector, a lot of the customers are going overseas.

         14  There has been -- in my opinion it's being overdone.

         15    In certain situations there are some cost savings,

         16  but that's only in certain situations, in the very,

         17  very circumscribed set of situations.

         18                 What I believe is happening is

         19  they're sort of -- it's almost sort of a dot com

         20  phenomenon of a rush to the newest new thing and

         21  it's being pushed by -- I'm not going to mention the

         22  names of the companies, but there are certain

         23  research companies in the industry, you might have

         24  heard of them.  I'll mention some names.  For

         25  example -- not that these particular companies are
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          2  pushing it, but Gardner Group or Tower Group or

          3  companies like that that put out research reports,

          4  very, very influential, and they are pushing the

          5  overseas phenomena.

          6                 I think it's gonna be a little bit of

          7  a bubble.  I think it is here to stay.

          8  Globalization in the industry is here to stay, but

          9  right now there's a rush to overseas and I believe a

         10  lot of it is based on marketing. The overseas

         11  companies, particularly in India, are doing superior

         12  marketing.

         13                 We're trying to market the New York

         14  companies better.  The New York companies do tend to

         15  be smaller, which is both an advantage and a

         16  disadvantage.  We'll see what happens.  It has

         17  impacted the number of jobs and the business

         18  available to the companies quite seriously.  If the

         19  IT Departments move decision makers and move jobs

         20  overseas, those are our customers and it's harder to

         21  reach the customers.  The big advantage of doing

         22  business in New York was access to the customers,

         23  particularly in the financial services sector.

         24                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  You know, it's funny

         25  to hear how strong the parallels or the analogies
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          2  are between these two seemingly different

          3  industries.  New York City has lost a tremendous

          4  amount of manufacturing.  1960 we had about a

          5  million manufacturing jobs, now we have about 200.

          6  I think a lot of that loss was inevitable, but

          7  what's here now are small entrepreneurial nimble

          8  companies that have figured out how to compete in

          9  the New York environment.  They're design oriented,

         10  they're very value added oriented.  They are

         11  confronting a number of other challenges here, not

         12  foreign competition, but the issue in perception, I

         13  think, is great.

         14  People don't perceive New York as still being a

         15  center of manufacturing.

         16                 There's a tremendous manufacturing

         17  issue, so in some ways we're confronting the same

         18  situation that they are in software.  People don't

         19  even -- people assume it's more expensive to do it

         20  in New York City, and that's not the case when you

         21  factor in a whole bunch of other things including

         22  risk and the length of time and travel costs.

         23                 In some ways having a Buy New York

         24  campaign or having a Made in NYC campaign are very

         25  appropriate because the challenges that we face are
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          2  really about perception and marketing.

          3                 MR. BERNSTEIN: I would just add that

          4  I think that there are more similarities than -- I

          5  agree with that, there are more similarities between

          6  the two sectors than is generally recognized.  I

          7  think software, actually, is being classified by the

          8  federal government as a manufacturing industry.

          9                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  So they're really a

         10  subset of us.

         11                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Well, we don't

         12  recognize that, but...

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Well, let's

         14  press it a little deeper.  Gentlemen, what state,

         15  federal or city policies have adversely impacted on

         16  your industries?

         17                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Adversely impacted.

         18  What state, federal or city policies.  I wish the

         19  federal -- well, state, federal -- federal I think

         20  the H1B program is a mess, but I don't think this is

         21  the appropriate place to get into that.  I don't

         22  think it's a good program.  I think it doesn't --

         23  you might be aware of the H1B program which is to --

         24  is one of the workforce programs, or it's the main

         25  workforce program of the federal government.  I
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          2  believe strongly in workforce programs.  I believe

          3  what you can do to build competitive advantage in

          4  New York --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  For the sake of

          6  the record, can you explain what that program means?

          7                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  The H1B program.

          8  Okay.  The H1B program is a special visa program

          9  that brings in what are called specially- skilled

         10  workers for temporary visas. They've kept increasing

         11  the number of workers they bring in and it's sort of

         12   -- what happens -- I don't know what the last

         13  number was, 100,000 a year.  The workers have to get

         14  sponsored.  It's a special category of visa called

         15  the H1B, and the industry has, on a national level

         16  has put a great deal of emphasis into expanding and

         17  expanding and expanding the program.

         18                 I believe that what we have to do is

         19  train more workers here and we can do that.  And I

         20  believe in workforce programs. There's a lot of

         21  people -- I believe in putting more money into the

         22  City University which is, obviously, the largest --

         23  you know, the City University's our largest pool of

         24  training workers, which produces 2,000 or more

         25  computer science degrees per year.  So, instead of
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          2  going overseas I do think we should look in our

          3  local neighborhoods.  I do think the immigrant pool

          4  in New York City is a tremendous base of skilled

          5  workers and it's one of the reasons that we've grown

          6  so rapidly.  There are many people who come over to

          7  settle and they have the sorts of skills that are

          8  needed in our industries.

          9                 I mean, you're asking a very broad

         10  question

         11  I would hesitate to, in terms of federal, state and

         12  local policies to promote the industry, there's a

         13  number of issues that we have on the table.  One is

         14   -- there's financing issues.  We'd like to see a

         15  guaranteed revolving loan fund. I don't know if it

         16  would be -- I'm hesitant to get into these right now

         17   'cause I think it opens a can of worms but, believe

         18  me, we will be back.  We'd like to present them to

         19  you in some sort of very coherent way.  I'm

         20  concerned that I wouldn't be able to present them

         21  coherently enough.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  That's fine,

         23  sir. Council Member Gerson.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you,

         25  Mr. And Madam Chairs.  And, Bruce, thank you.  I was
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          2  listening intently to your testimony behind the

          3  barrier.  It's always good to hear a kind word when

          4  the person doesn't know you're there.  I appreciate

          5  that.

          6                 Let me just apologize.  I, like my

          7  colleague, will be having to shuttle back and forth

          8  between this and the Preparedness Hearing directly

          9  next door.  So, I apologize in advance.

         10                 I want to also just finally thank my

         11  colleagues and the Chairs, the co- Chairs for this

         12  hearing for their leadership in promoting Resolution

         13  744.  I mean, once again, you all have done an

         14  outstanding job and I really appreciate that on

         15  behalf of our district and our city.

         16                 Let me just ask you, we're going to

         17  be having a lot of contracting in lower Manhattan as

         18  part of the rebuilding process.  Do you see any

         19  relationship between this resolution, if it were

         20  implemented, and all the contracts that will be let

         21  as part of the, you know, generally and also we're

         22  curiously specifically with respect to the software

         23  industry.

         24                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  That's a very good

         25  question and a very interesting point.
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          2                 First of all, the resolution is sort

          3  of a -- would you call it a sense of the body

          4  resolution -- it's nonbinding.  It's a moral

          5   'suasion resolution.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  That's

          7  assuming we're successful in our moral suasion.

          8                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Well, if you're

          9  successful in your moral 'suasion, the resolution is

         10  aimed to morally sway all government bodies and all

         11  private sector bodies.  What the resolution says is

         12  just put one New York company on your bidders list

         13  for each short bidders list.  What the companies do

         14  is they put -- they might check out a hundred

         15  companies, but they always, for any significant

         16  contract, whether you're government or private

         17  sector, you always get it down to -- many of you

         18  have done procurement -- you get it down to three,

         19  four, five companies.  You get it down to a short

         20  list. What they were asking them to do is make sure

         21  one New York company is on each and every short

         22  list.  If they have -- if somehow that sticks in

         23  their mind, and we'll look at other ways of doing

         24  this, but this is the first step.  Get that one

         25  company in there, then our member companies will get
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          2  some more business.

          3                 I just want to take a moment -- I

          4  know they're gonna testify, but I want to thank two

          5  of my members who have come today.  Two of the

          6  leading -- and they're very busy and it's hard to

          7  get them out to deal with governments. I want to

          8  take a moment to thank them.  Ennius Bergsma, who's

          9  Chief Strategy Officer for Pass Logics which has

         10  done very, very well in the market.  They have

         11  security products. When they get up here they're

         12  gonna be modest, but these are two very good

         13  companies.  And Yui Ping Wu, who is the founder of

         14  NOAH Software.  Once again, she's been active in the

         15  industry for years and over the course of years has

         16  produced hundreds of jobs in this industry.  I want

         17  to make sure that I at least acknowledge them.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I just want to

         19  mention that, Council Member Gerson, we're going to

         20  turn this resolution if it's successful into actual

         21  intros.  Just so you know.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I think

         23  that's terrific.  Once again, Council Member Brewer,

         24  your leadership is indispensable.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Keep it short,
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          2  Alan.

          3                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Alan, we're also

          4  setting up a software center in lower Manhattan.  We

          5  got the -- as you know, we've gotten a $3 million

          6  appropriation from Speaker Silver.  We recently got

          7  a $3 million capital appropriation, a $1 million

          8  operational appropriation from the U.S. Congress,

          9  and we are gonna look at putting up a building or

         10  buying a building or some way setting up a hub of

         11  the industry.  It must be in lower Manhattan.  It

         12  must be in your district and we're quite happy to be

         13  there.  I think that can develop into a center of

         14  the industry, a real district.  But, legislatively,

         15  it has to be in lower Manhattan.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  As you know,

         17  I wholeheartedly have endorsed and continue to

         18  support that totally and then look forward to that.

         19  We also want manufacturing as part of our district.

         20                 Could I just go back to the question?

         21    I just think it's important for the record for all

         22  of us, do you expect the reconstruction or the

         23  rebuilding process to generate the type and the

         24  quality of -- the type of work and the quantity of

         25  work, the type of contracts or the quantity of
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          2  contracts for which a Buy New York requirement as

          3  you outlined would be an important generator of

          4  assuring that the qualified New York firms get

          5  involved with the process?

          6                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Well, let me take --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Specifically for

          8  the rebuilding downtown.

          9                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I don't know that

         10  much about how many IT contracts are gonna be let in

         11  the rebuilding, and we should -- we, as an

         12  organization we should look into that more and we

         13  will.  We just did the -- I'll raise the benchmark

         14  in terms of the response, the one benchmark I have.

         15  We just did the Buy New York Fair with the support

         16  of the Council.  The Buy New York Fair was to get

         17  buyers in. We had the companies demonstrate their

         18  goods or show their goods and we cajoled and pleaded

         19  and did everything possible to get buyers in to come

         20  and look.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  It was fabulous.

         22                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  And we thank you.

         23  You walked the floor.  We thank you for all the

         24  support this Council has given.  In fact, the

         25  Council helped to fund it and, in fact, the Speaker
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          2  was the keynote.  Council Member Brewer was there.

          3                 The best response was from the city

          4  agencies. We had a very good response from the city

          5  agencies.  We had Menchini, we had Department of

          6  Education, we had a number of different agencies

          7  came in and took a serious look.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Correction.

          9                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  From Corrections,

         10  Housing. The private sector, it was tough.  I'm not

         11  saying it was easy.  I'm not saying we got the

         12  response we would have liked from the private

         13  sector.  I'd say from the city the response we got

         14  was a B+/A- in terms of the people who were there.

         15  Private sector, it was C+ at best.  You know,

         16  something like that.  We pulled teeth, we cajoled,

         17  we did everything we could.  We gave them free

         18  lunch.  We gave them really excellent workshops and

         19  it was tough.  We're gonna keep working on it.

         20                 The State.  The State helped fund it

         21  but we did not get the State buyers there.  Feds.

         22  The feds, we can get them but it was just -- that's

         23  a heavy lift.  It takes a long -- there's much more

         24  of a lead time necessary for the fed buyers.

         25                 Chairwoman Brewer suggested something
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          2  really exciting to us, which we hope can come about,

          3  which is that next year we do it in City Hall.  I

          4  think that'll get the private buyers there.  Once

          5  again, all we want -- Pass Logics was demonstrating,

          6  NOAH was demonstrating.  We're convinced if they --

          7  if they get the buyers in, they'll get 10% of the

          8  contracts or 15% of the contracts.  Just as long as

          9  we can get the buyers in we'll let the companies do

         10  the rest.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I'm going to

         12  take the Chairs.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you very

         14  much.  I'm going to take the prerogative of moving

         15  this because I don't want to lose a quorum.  There's

         16  a vote at stake here and I don't want to lose a

         17  quorum.  I would be remiss if I did not say we've

         18  been joined by Council Members Sarah Gonzalez of

         19  Brooklyn and Domenic Recchia of Brooklyn.

         20                 Council Member Espada, I believe you

         21  had a question.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chairman.  I think part of it was answered by

         24  Council Member Gerson's question and your comments.

         25  A little more on your strategic plan.  I mean, we've
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          2  kind of focused in on what is obvious to all of us

          3  in terms of the recession and its impact and the

          4  9/11 impact as well, but what are targets of

          5  opportunity that you have identified, given the fact

          6  that we have a real focus now on bioterrorism, a

          7  real focus on any number of other concerns borne out

          8  of the same concerns that have been duly noted here.

          9    What opportunities, new opportunities, for your

         10  650 members and what could we in government do

         11  beyond making the procurement process more available

         12  and accessible?

         13                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  The security software

         14  and the various -- most of them are military,

         15  military or Homeland Security- type applications

         16  coming out of the federal government are

         17  opportunities.  The institute that's going to go

         18  into Councilman Gerson's district, the

         19  appropriations I named, will form the New York

         20  Institute for Advanced Studies in software and

         21  information technology.

         22                 We have four partners, CUNY,

         23  Columbia, NYU and Poly.  Once again, this affects

         24  all of your districts 'cause all of your districts

         25  will have students who will -- or young people who
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          2  can particularly get jobs in that industry in your

          3  districts.  CUNY and these schools, especially CUNY,

          4  reach into all your districts.

          5                 In terms of a broader strategic

          6  vision, there are certain overriding policies.  One

          7  has to do with affordable commercial real estate as

          8  a long- term issue. Education workforce is a long-

          9  term issue.  Telecom, you know, world class telecom

         10  band width is a long- term issue. I will say that

         11  we're in discussions with your staff, with, as you

         12  say, your excellent staff person, Nick Noll, and we

         13  have requested a hearing in particular on New York

         14  as a high- tech center.  In other words, an overall

         15  hearing on New York's development as a high- tech

         16  center.

         17                 We're not badly positioned.  At the

         18  end of our growth -- we reached our growth curve

         19  around the beginning or middle of the year 2000.  At

         20  the end of that period, Mr. Councilman -- Member, we

         21  were approximately third in software and IT.  You

         22  and I discussed this in the early '80s, so that

         23  number might -- third nationally -- that number

         24  might shock you 'cause you know from the early '80s

         25  how weak we were at that point.  But at the end of
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          2  that growth curve we were approximately the same as

          3  Seattle and Los Angeles.  I don't know what the

          4  number is now, but we're not badly positioned

          5  because of the customers, because of the financial

          6  pool and because of the workforce.  Workforce in the

          7  city actually turns out to be great.  There's some

          8  problems, but there's some real advantages with our

          9  workforce.

         10                 Also, the entrepreneurial spirit.  It

         11  turns out for a number of reasons, New York City is

         12  good for young and even middle- aged entrepreneurs.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I just, Mr.

         14  Chairman, just as a follow- up comment, the issues

         15  of perception and how your market is viewed, this

         16  has probably less to do with the specific focus of

         17  this session, but we, in the outer boroughs,

         18  particularly in the inner city communities where the

         19  greatest digital divide exists, we need the

         20  perception and help from the industry.  Because

         21  clearly as you develop your strategic plans along

         22  with institutions that are fully rooted in our

         23  communities, you mentioned community colleges, the

         24  state colleges system, major hospitals in the

         25  academic medicine arena as well, that we would like
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          2  to work

          3  with you in your sector very closely so that when

          4  there are opportunities to reach out and to actually

          5  site a program in our communities that we, too, be

          6  alerted to that and work simultaneously to

          7  accomplish what's been accomplished in the lower

          8  part of Manhattan.  Thank you.

          9                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Noted and agreed.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Well put, sir.

         11  Gentlemen, may I draw your attention that we, of

         12  course, that Domenic Recchia, the Chair of Small

         13  Business, is here and you may want to avail yourself

         14  also.  It almost goes without saying that Queens'

         15  most able Councilperson is also here, Eric Gioia.

         16                 I believe that we have a question

         17  from Council Member Clarke.  Council Member Reyna, I

         18  stand corrected.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chair. I just wanted to ask or refer you to, because

         21  you had mentioned the private sector and not having

         22  the positive response you would have liked to have

         23  seen, to start off small in areas such as the

         24  industrial parks that are identified throughout the

         25  City of New York, to start off with the private
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          2  sector and changing the perception, as Council

          3  Member Espada had mentioned, of what's out there and

          4  giving -- bringing these opportunities to the

          5  private sector.  I'll personally invite you to my

          6  industrial park in Brooklyn.

          7                 We're making tremendous turnarounds

          8  and improving the industrial park, truly committing

          9  to it and how it's going to be revitalized.  I would

         10  love to see baking goods such as Voila (phonetic),

         11  who makes muffins, croissants, be on an information

         12  buyers list where if people were interested in

         13  purchasing these goods, they know where to go.  That

         14  will, in turn, help out our manufacturing area where

         15  this industrial park exists.  Mr. Friedman knows

         16  these areas very well.

         17                 I'm sure that we can all work

         18  together in making lines of communications improve.

         19  The idea of hosting something here in City Hall,

         20  Council Member Brewer hit it on the head with that

         21  notion, that we should open up the doors of City

         22  Hall and make it more accessible so that people can

         23  actually see what information is out there on their

         24  behalf to improve and profit everyone.  It's a win-

         25  win situation. Let's make it a win- win situation
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          2  because I don't think people truly realize what is

          3  out there.  I know in my industrial park, I'm trying

          4  to organize where people such as yourself go out to

          5  them and give them this information.  So, I look

          6  forward to your visit.

          7                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I look forward to it.

          8    Thank you very much.  I can't wait.  It's East New

          9  York or --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  East

         11  Williamsburg.

         12                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  East Williamsburg,

         13  I'm sorry.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  But there is

         15  one in East New York as well.

         16                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I'll go to both of

         17  them.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Definitely.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Go to both,

         20  sir. You'll go far in this business.  Without

         21  further ado, I'm going to thank you both for coming

         22  before us.  We will call the next witnesses who,

         23  sadly, I'm going to have speak for two minutes each

         24  so we can get to a vote before I lose a quorum.

         25  These witnesses are?
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Mr. Bergsma

          3  and Yui Ping Wu.  Does the shorter person get the

          4  middle seat?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  That's fine.

          6  That's fine.  In fact, we'll even let you speak

          7  first.

          8                 I want to thank both of you for being

          9  out here.  I apologize for my being -- asking you to

         10  be so brief, but I'm sure that as concise as you

         11  are, two minutes is more than enough time.  If you

         12  pull the microphone a little bit closer to you, sir.

         13    When that button seems off, it's actually on.  If

         14  it's lit, it's not on.  If you will identify

         15  yourself for the record, please.

         16                 MS. WU:  Thank you very much.  I am

         17  Yui Ping Wu.  I am founder and CEO of NOAH Software

         18  in the city.  We have been building this company for

         19  the last 15 years.  I wanted to thank you for this

         20  opportunity to speak with you about this most

         21  important initiative for the continuing

         22  re- emergence of the New York technology sector.

         23                 With the bust of the dot com era, we

         24  have been seeing the elimination of over 30,000

         25  technology positions from the New York metro area.
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          2  To be sure this is a spiral that will be extremely

          3  difficult to reverse for as technology talent

          4  quickly leaves the area, companies are forced to

          5  outsource their internal development and support

          6  activities to other regions and other parts of the

          7  world.

          8                 Interestingly, you right here and

          9  right now have the power to take some immediate and

         10  meaningful action. The resolution to support the Buy

         11  New York initiative is a wonderful thing.  We're

         12  very, very supportive of this resolution.  We should

         13  all pat ourself on the back for a job well done.

         14  But it is just a start.

         15                 Passing a resolution, it's one

         16  situation, but we need action and that's the reality

         17  of how we doing business every day.  That action can

         18  start with the City of New York and its billion

         19  dollars IT budget.  We all are acutely aware of the

         20  city's need to reduce cost.  We at NOAH Software

         21  right now have a series of enterprise solution that

         22  can deliver significant cost savings to the city.

         23  It's very real, measurable cost savings right now,

         24  this week.  But now, to get anyone to listen, that

         25  is a problem.  So, what we would like to do is
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          2  suggest an idea, if I can call it today.  I'd like

          3  to ask the Council and the Select Committee on

          4  Technology in Government to create a one- day

          5  meeting of the IT leaders of New York City and

          6  technology companies located in New York City.  Of

          7  the 12 companies selected to present at this

          8  meeting, each vendor will have 30 minutes to show

          9  how they can significantly reduce cost in city IT.

         10  Is my time up?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Would you take

         12  30 more seconds to wrap up.  Thirty real seconds.

         13                 MS. WU:  I will speak faster.  In

         14  city IT infrastructure.  Prior to the meeting each

         15  vendor will be reviewed by a committee to ensure

         16  that their cost saving technologies are effective

         17  and can be implemented.

         18                 I hope that what my message is, we

         19  can have the resolution.  I really hope that we can

         20  work together to get the action going and able to go

         21  ahead and produce these real results.  Thank you

         22  very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you.

         24  Sir, would you be kind enough.

         25                 MR. BERGSMA:  My name is Ennius
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          2  Bergsma and I'm the Chief Strategy Officer of a

          3  company called Pass Logics.  We are located here on

          4  Pearl Street, corner of Pearl Street and Wall

          5  Street.

          6                 What our company does, it's an

          7  enterprise software company and we typically sell

          8  our software to large organizations that have

          9  employees with lots of passwords. Passwords cost a

         10  fortune because people forget them and they call

         11  help desks and other people, and in the process you

         12  end up with huge costs that we basically eliminate.

         13                 The reason that we are strongly in

         14  favor of this resolution is that it is our

         15  experience that when we are evaluated by enterprise,

         16  it is not 2 out of 10 that we win, it is 7 out of 10

         17  that we win.  So, usually when we have a chance to

         18  actually show an organization what we can do and how

         19  we, in a matter of months, can eliminate an

         20  organization's passwords altogether and get an

         21  enormous amount of employee frustration out of the

         22  way and pay for the software in a couple of months

         23  because there is no help desk necessary anymore, or

         24  at least not the help desk resetting passwords, it

         25  becomes a very, very straightforward proposition.
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          2                 Now, our hardest problem is, as in a

          3  relatively company, we have 32 employees, is really

          4  making sure that people are aware of us.  Now, that

          5  is rapidly growing.  We have some Fortune 500

          6  companies, financial institutions in the city.  We

          7  have several federal agencies that have adopted our

          8  software.  We just landed a large contract with one

          9  of the large New York State agencies.  I haven't

         10  seen a New York City agency yet, so I'm kind of

         11  looking forward to that.

         12                 I think what this campaign and what

         13  this resolution is all about is, and I said this to

         14  Bruce and he actually reflected, it's not so much

         15  buying New York, it is give New York a chance,

         16  because we are very confident that if we do get on

         17  the lists, that we actually can deliver and perform.

         18    So that's why we really feel strongly that this is

         19  the right thing to do.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I thank you

         21  also, sir. I apologize to the both of you again.

         22  This has been an incredible day where the budget is

         23  being discussed and I want to make sure that my

         24  colleagues can attend several different meetings

         25  that they're supposed to be at the same time.
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          2                 Are there any brief questions of

          3  these good people before we being this matter to a

          4  vote?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Just to

          6  reiterate, thank you for your many hours today and

          7  in the past working through this resolution.

          8  Spending time at City Hall, I'm sure it's an

          9  education.  Thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  You will have

         11  the pinnal to mid word, Chairperson Brewer.  Is

         12  there anything that you want to say?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  No.  Just thank

         14  you to the industry and to my colleagues and we look

         15  forward to implementing this, passing the

         16  resolution, but also implementing what's in the

         17  resolution in the form of an intro.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I trust

         19  everyone is clear on this resolution.  If not -- if

         20  we are, then, sir, would you be kind enough to call

         21  the roll.

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Sanders.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Yes, indeed.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Reyna

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  For the
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          2  record, I just want to add my name to this

          3  resolution and I vote aye on this absolutely great

          4  resolution.  Thank you.

          5                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Clark.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  I vote aye as

          7  well.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Dilan.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Aye.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Gerson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Yes.

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Gioia.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  I vote yes.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Recchia.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  I would also

         16  like to add my name to be a co- sponsor of this bill

         17  and I vote yes.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Gonzalez.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ:  Yes.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Espada.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  I

         22  respectfully request co- sponsorship and vote aye.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  By a vote of

         24  nine in the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         25  abstentions, the item is adopted.  Council members,
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          2  please sign the committee report.  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I congratulate,

          4  of course, Gale Brewer and everyone else who has

          5  worked hard --

          6                 (Applause)

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  -- To make this

          8  a possibility.

          9                 While we shift gears, the committee

         10  has one more matter to shift gears on.  Anyone who

         11  is going to leave besides the committee, this is a

         12  good moment to do so.  Now that we have done that

         13  part of the good work for New York City, let us take

         14  another part of it.

         15                 We're talking about expansion of the

         16  East New York empire zone.  Here is my opening

         17  statement as we get ourselves together for that

         18  part.  Here is my opening statement.

         19                 My name again is James Sanders, Jr.

         20  I'm Chair of Economic Development for the City

         21  Council.  I am pleased to have the opportunity today

         22  to take a step forward in the expansion of another

         23  New York City empire zone.  Last year this committee

         24  held hearings and ultimately approved -- ultimately

         25  approved an expansion of the empire zones in
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          2  Jamaica, Queens and on Staten Island.  The empire

          3  zone program is designed to stimulate economic

          4  growth in a number of New York State's most severely

          5  distressed areas.  It does so by providing tax

          6  incentives and utility discounts for businesses that

          7  locate or expand within the zone.  To ensure that

          8  the population targeted by the program will benefit

          9  from the new jobs created, localities are required

         10  to provide or arrange for job training, child care

         11  and other assistance that will prepare individuals

         12  to enter the workplace.

         13                 Today we will look closely at the

         14  proposed expansion of the East New York empire zone.

         15    This expansion has four components, Gateway Mall,

         16  which is 51 acres.  This $190 million, 64,000 square

         17  foot, suburban style super retail center is situated

         18  at the southern end of East New York.  Courier site

         19   -- hm, that's an interesting word -- 139 acres, the

         20  area immediately west and adjacent to the Twin Pines

         21  Industrial Park, and has manufacturing and

         22  commercial business base similar to that of the

         23  existing zone. Terminal Market, 40 acres.  Brooklyn

         24  Terminal Market is East New York's landmark facility

         25  that has been the source of fresh produce to the
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          2  community and the city's produce wholesale industry

          3  for over 70 years, offering

          4  low- skill employment to immigrants.  The market is

          5  comprised of small and medium- based businesses.

          6  Here's one that people love, the Downstate

          7  Biotechnology Incubator, 12 acres.  A 50,000 -- I

          8  stand corrected.  A 50,000 square foot medical

          9  facility owned and operated by SUNY Downstate is

         10  currently being built to help attract start- up and

         11  establish biotechnology firms in New York City.

         12                 There are specific guidelines that

         13  govern the expansion of an empire zone, the details

         14  of which are included in today's briefing paper.

         15                 I look forward to hearing from the

         16  testimony of the administration, community and

         17  business leaders and I will listen carefully to

         18  those Council members who represent affected

         19  districts, including Eric Dilan, Charles Barron and

         20  Lew Fidler.  Council Member Dilan is here so after

         21  we hear -- in fact, I'll do a little different.  Is

         22  there anything you want to start out saying now, or

         23  would you care to express it a little later?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman.  While the proposed boundary changes are
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          2  not specifically within my council district, my

          3  council district does have a nice portion of the

          4  empire zone.  I just wanted to state publicly that I

          5  am in favor of the proposed changes.  I think it can

          6  do a lot for the Borough of Brooklyn as a whole

          7  economically.  I'm just interested in hearing

          8  testimony from the other interested parties as to

          9  how this could be of benefit to the Borough of

         10  Brooklyn. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Well put, sir.

         12  Our counsel will call the next witnesses, or first

         13  witnesses for this panel.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  The first

         15  witness, I will call DBS together, Andrew Schwartz,

         16  Mark Newhouse, Une Cho (phonetic).

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Good afternoon,

         18  all. Good to see you.  When that light is off, it's

         19  actually on. If you pull it close enough to your

         20  mikes and identify yourself for the record when you

         21  speak.

         22                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  Good afternoon,

         23  Chairman Sanders and members of the Economic

         24  Development Committee. I'm Mark Newhouse, Deputy

         25  Commissioner for Neighborhood Development within the
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          2  Department of Small Business Services.  Thank you

          3  for the opportunity to testify today. I'm here to

          4  speak in favor of passage of Intro. 431, which

          5  authorizes the expansion of the boundaries of the

          6  East Brooklyn empire zone.

          7                 Since this empire zone was created in

          8  1987, the acreage designed for empire zone benefits

          9  has remained unchanged at 588 acres out of a total

         10  of 1,280 acres that is available to be designated.

         11  During this time, East Brooklyn and East New York,

         12  in particular, has experienced some significant

         13  economic development related to the area's

         14  designation as an empire zone.  Gateway Mall, a

         15  640,000 square foot shopping center which opened

         16  last year, has brought hundreds of new jobs to an

         17  area urgently in need of local employment

         18  opportunities.  Courier services, including those of

         19  Federal Express and the United Parcel Service, have

         20  located to the courier cargo area in East New York

         21  because of its affordable costs.  I expect these

         22  businesses to serve as anchors for other cargo-

         23  related businesses and distribution- related

         24  businesses.

         25                 In addition, the creation of a 50,000
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          2  square foot biotech center operated by SUNY

          3  Downstate is underway, and its inclusion in the East

          4  Brooklyn empire zone will bring many long- term

          5  benefits by diversifying the zone's business base

          6  and employment opportunities.

          7                 Since its inception the empire zone's

          8  program has proven to be a successful tool for

          9  economic development in economically- distressed

         10  areas of the city.  Given our current economic

         11  condition these zones have been all the more vital

         12  in maintaining existing businesses and attracting

         13  new businesses by offering a variety of tax credits

         14  and incentives.  We anticipate that the proposed

         15  expansion of the East Brooklyn zone would retain 600

         16  local jobs that might otherwise be lost and create

         17  over 750 new jobs, lead to beautification projects

         18  and generate $12 million I private investments.

         19                 Although East New York has a lower

         20  unemployment rate than it did at the time the zone

         21  was first established, more work needs to be done.

         22  With Intro. 431 we would expand the empire zone by

         23  approximately 242 acres, which will lead to further

         24  employment and development for the area.  As the

         25  city's administrator of the empire zone's program,
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          2  the Department of Small Business Services fully

          3  supports the passage of Intro. 431 and urges the

          4  committee to vote in favor of it.  Thanks.  I'd be

          5  happy to answer any questions that you might have.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you, sir.

          7    Where do we want to start?  I want to start with

          8  is there any evidence that the rate of unemployment

          9  in East New York has changed after each of the

         10  previous revisions of the zone's boundaries?

         11                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  I believe that there

         12  is evidence that there's been a change in

         13  unemployment.  I don't know if Une Cho, who's

         14  director of the program has any specific data that

         15  we could provide now or we could get that to you at

         16  a later point.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I can't quote

         18  the percentage of the improvement in terms of the

         19  alleviation of the unemployment rate, but I could

         20  get that to you today after the meeting.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  If you would be

         22  kind enough, I'd like to know if what we're doing is

         23  effective.

         24                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  And we could certainly

         25  get you the specific employment data related to
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          2  zone- certified businesses and break out for you of

          3  the employees -- of the employment that's been

          4  generated by zone- certified businesses, how many of

          5  those individuals are local residents and how many

          6  might have been unemployed prior to their employment

          7  with that business.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  A related

          9  comment to that is according to the most recent

         10  statistics available from the State, between 2000

         11  and 2001 zone- certified businesses, which are at

         12  the number of 102 in the zone right now, have

         13  created 966 jobs between the last year and $18

         14  million in private investment.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  That's the

         16  local, those 966 jobs, if I heard you, are in East

         17  New York?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  You read my

         20  mind, Deputy Commissioner, where I was very

         21  interested in local, how many people, how many New

         22  York City residents, how many local people have we

         23  put to work.  I will yield to -- Council Member

         24  Reyna has a question.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Well, I just
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          2  wanted to find out, I was whispering to James hoping

          3  he would catch your -- I would catch his attention

          4  in time because I wanted to find out, the same

          5  question as it pertains to the empire zone in

          6  Williamsburg and Bushwick, considering it's a large

          7  stretch, what has that figure been like as far as a

          8  positive change or a negative change or a plateau?

          9                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  I don't think we have

         10  the specific information for you right now,

         11  Councilwoman, but we do have the annual report, at

         12  least for calendar year '01 that was filed with the

         13  State, so why don't we furnish you with that for

         14  that particular empire zone and also the one for

         15  East Brooklyn for Chairman Sanders.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I appreciate

         17  that, sir. If you would be kind enough to furnish

         18  all annual reports that you have, of course, to me.

         19  You can go the way that you suggest with the other

         20  ones.

         21                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  Yes, we could do that.

         22    We actually, after a previous hearing I sent your

         23  staff member, Mr. Reed, summaries of these reports.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I see.

         25                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  So, we'll send a full
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          2  report as well.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I appreciate

          4  it. Council Member Dilan.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Thank you.

          6  Just a couple of brief questions.  First of all, I

          7  would like to know what's the criteria of businesses

          8  that the State looks for when they decide to expand

          9  the empire zones?  Are they looking at a business of

         10  a certain size, whether it be small, medium or

         11  large, or is there any type of criteria as far as

         12  the types of businesses or selection?  If you could

         13  just enlighten me, I'd be appreciative.

         14                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  I'll jump in and my

         15  colleagues can add on.  In terms of expanding the

         16  zones or any zone, that is, the criteria really has

         17  to do with the acreage that's been designated and is

         18  undesignated and allotted to the zone.  So, it's not

         19  so much with respect to the qualities of a

         20  particular business but, rather, how many

         21  undesignated acres are available to a zone.  Once

         22  that's determined, we have to work within the

         23  guidelines that the State outlines regarding the

         24  development potential of that acreage.  In this case

         25  we're actually designating developed acreage where
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          2  businesses already exist, so it lowers the

          3  percentage of developable acreage within the zone

          4  overall, but is still within the State's guidelines.

          5    So, that's the primary criteria, and then we also

          6  have to meet criteria around population and poverty

          7  level and unemployment.  So, it has more to do with

          8  the population than it does the actual businesses.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you.  I

         11  have a question.  My question is do you expect the

         12  site "B" portion, the courier site to compete with

         13  the cargo industry near the Queens Airports?  If

         14  not, why not?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  I think we're

         16  being a little parochial here, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I'm just

         18  interested in the wellbeing of New York City, my

         19  friend.

         20                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  We don't expect it to

         21  be a direct competitor.  In part, our sense is that

         22  the two facilities represent different attributes

         23  for different businesses.  The cost structure's a

         24  bit different at this site versus the one nearer the

         25  airport.  It's our understanding that, in fact, the
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          2  current tenants, Federal Express and UPS, actually

          3  have businesses -- have operations at the other

          4  locations.  So, we see it as extending the overall

          5  potential of the region as a courier hub.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Couldn't it

          7  also be seen as, by smaller minds, of course, as an

          8  attempt to poach from one part of the city to

          9  another?  Isn't this the argument that we use

         10  against Jersey and other places where all we're

         11  doing is shifting industry around from one borough

         12  to another?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I would have to

         14  disagree with that because the businesses that enjoy

         15  presence right now near the JFK Airport, that are

         16  cargo industry, already have an advantage of the

         17  proximity to the airport, which the East New York

         18  Industrial Park cargo site does not.  So, what we

         19  expect the East New York cargo portion to do is to

         20  supplement the need for space for businesses that

         21  cannot find affordable space in the JFK area.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Let me, since I

         23  know a little bit about JFK, being the Council

         24  member who has JFK in my district, and then I'll

         25  yield to my colleague, but there's a question on
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          2  biotech that you should also look into, Madam Chair

          3  of a different committee.  There is space. We just

          4  recently put the IAF, IAC, Industrial -- Inter

          5  national Airport Center at JFK.  They have not fully

          6  leased the space over there.  There is space there

          7  now.  Are we endangering their project?

          8                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  I think, Chairman,

          9  that the focus on air cargo at this location is not

         10  the issue.  These tend to more of a distribution

         11  center for UPS to get its trucks in, to pick up

         12  packages and deliver them through Brooklyn.  If

         13  there's any overflow business that can't be

         14  accommodated -- this is still a good distance away

         15  from the airport, so I don't think we see this as a

         16  competitor to that.

         17                 We could also discuss with you any of

         18  the -- if there is a shortage of space for those

         19  needs around the airport, perhaps there are empire

         20  zone benefits that need to be looked into in the

         21  Jamaica or Far Rockaway area that could address

         22  that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  A worthy

         24  conversation. I will --

         25                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  And certainly, we

                                                            56

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  could look immediately at whether or not the

          3  businesses closer to the airport are in zone

          4  equivalent areas which would enable them to access a

          5  number of zone benefits right away without actually

          6  being in a zone per se.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  A worthy

          8  conversation. We will continue it.  Council Member

          9  Dilan and then Council Member Reyna.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  My comment to

         11  you got clarified in regard to the air versus ground

         12  cargo.

         13                 But this question to you, have you at

         14  all gotten any interest from any of the air cargo

         15  facilities at Kennedy Airport about relocating to

         16  the East New York area? Have you gotten any interest

         17  at all?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  As to the

         19  specific marketing outreach or the contacts from

         20  particular businesses that are interested in

         21  relocation to the area, the zone coordinator who

         22  will testify after us will be able to offer that

         23  information.  I don't have the specific businesses

         24  that have approached the zone --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  So, nothing
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          2  from the air cargo industry at all --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  No, not that --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  -- From your

          5  perspective?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you very

          7  much, Council Member Dilan.  You're as thorough as

          8  you need to be.

          9                 Council Member Reyna, I believe you

         10  had a question.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  This map is

         12  great, by the way, because it truly gives you a

         13  perspective as to what you're looking at right now

         14  as well as what's to come in the future.

         15                 I wanted to just ask by category,

         16  site A, how many jobs will this bring to the empire

         17   -- I guess to the empire zone as well as the

         18  community, because the community, as a whole, is

         19  going to be benefitting from this.  How many job,

         20  site B, how many jobs in site C and how many jobs in

         21  site D?

         22                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  I know we have

         23  aggregate figures, Councilwoman, that will project

         24  total job creation will be about a thousand, job

         25  retention to be just over 600 and capital investment
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          2  to be around $12 million.  It may be possible for us

          3  to get you an actual breakdown as to how those jobs

          4  created and retained correspond to individual

          5  businesses.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And just to

          7  reiterate what you just mentioned, a thousand new

          8  jobs?

          9                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And then jobs

         11  retained --

         12                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  Would be 610.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  610.  When you

         14  say jobs retained, are these jobs that exist outside

         15  the area that are coming in and therefore they're

         16  being retained, or are these jobs that exist in that

         17  area that are being retained because now we're

         18  stabilizing the area?

         19                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  Correct me if I'm

         20  wrong, but I believe they are jobs that exist in

         21  that area that we expect to retain.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you very

         24  much. If there are no other questions for this

         25  panel, I yield to Council Member Dilan and then
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          2  Council Member Clarke.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  One last

          4  question. It's not directly related to the agency,

          5  but I'm sure many of the businesses probably have

          6  raised concerns about just overall safety and

          7  policing.  Is there any coordination maybe with your

          8  agency and the police department to maybe enhance

          9  security of the 75 Precinct towards the targeted

         10  business areas in specific sites A and B and C,

         11  which are in the catchment area of the 75th

         12  Precinct?  Any discussions at all?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  The security

         14  services for site A will be provided by the --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Privately?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  -- Companies

         17  themselves.  Site B and C would be encumbered by the

         18  in- place industrial park security forces.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Okay.  Thank

         20  you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you.  I

         22  was just looking at this very, very, very

         23  interesting map to say the least and trying to

         24  figure out who lands where.  But the person who does

         25  know all is Council Member Clarke.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  I actually

          3  came to ask my own questions.  I wish I knew all,

          4  Mr. Chair, but thank you for being so generous.

          5                 I wanted to just get a sense of how,

          6  for instance -- I'll be very specific about the

          7  biotech project and the benefits that it will

          8  receive as being part of an empire zone.

          9                 My concern is that there's been a lot

         10  of logistical issues with the area of development

         11  that we're talking about because if it's primarily

         12  residential, with the exception of the institutions,

         13  the health care institutions in the area, we have

         14  the concern around the sanitation issue.  I'm not

         15  sure if you've visited where we have a waste

         16  transfer station, for lack of a better term, right

         17  next to it, and we have some concerns about the

         18  commercial strips.  I guess they'll be addressed

         19  when Fernando comes forward, but how could we

         20  leverage the designation of an empire zone to

         21  address those issues? Because if, in fact, the

         22  incubator is to really grow and produce the type of

         23  job creation that is projected, there are certain

         24  other issues that I see that could be -- make it

         25  much more of a challenge to meet those goals and
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          2  those targets, particularly bringing in and

          3  attracting smaller businesses to be incubated there,

          4  when the conditions are not necessarily ideal.  Have

          5  there been any discussion about how we could look at

          6  relocating some of those services in dealing with

          7  the physical amenities of the area that help to make

          8  it attractive?  Is that something that the zone

          9  designation has room to address?

         10                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  The zone designation

         11  doesn't specifically address that, although two

         12  thoughts come to mind.  First is that we, or the

         13  Commissioner, in his capacity as Chairman of the

         14  Zone Administrative Board, encourages the Board to

         15  take a more comprehensive approach to the economic

         16  development of the area.  So, in addition to

         17  outlining some very specific goals around job

         18  retention and creation, business attraction and

         19  expansion, it's appropriate for Zone Administrator

         20  Ford to also think about the amenities in an area,

         21  the support services and the other elements that are

         22  critical to creating a vibrant commercial district.

         23                 The other thought that I would submit

         24  is that, through wearing my other hat on commercial

         25  revitalization, it would be appropriate for us to
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          2  talk about perhaps looking at some of the issues you

          3  just outlined for -- in collaboration with the Local

          4  Development Corporation and figure out what

          5  initiatives we might want to work on in the coming

          6  year as we put together our agenda for the

          7  commercial revitalization program, 'cause I think

          8  those are exactly the kinds of things that we could

          9  address through that program.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  May I just

         11  sort of ask, when you talk about the Local

         12  Development Corporation, are you talking about the

         13  Local Development Corporation of East New York that

         14  would be able to give some direct assistance to this

         15  particular part of the zone?

         16                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  I'm saying that we

         17  have partnered with the LDC of East New York in the

         18  past on CR projects and we could certainly do

         19  something like that in the coming year.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  My question,

         21  just to wrap this up, is how do you foresee the

         22  Downstate Biotechnology Incubator, which is way

         23  outside the zone, affecting the East New York

         24  economy.  We are, of course, concerned about the

         25  Flatbush economy and so we want to understand what
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          2  the relationship and what the, for lack of a better

          3  term, quid pro quo would be for the community in

          4  which the incubator's actually located.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  The LDC of

          6  East New York, who is the -- which is the local

          7  administrator of the empire zone program in that

          8  area will encumber the job to businesses match

          9  responsibility to address the unemployment rate

         10  inside the zone as well as unemployment that is

         11  present in the vicinity of the Downstate Medical

         12  Center.

         13                 Just to add to your previous

         14  question, the answer that the Deputy Commissioner

         15  gave, is that the Zone Administrative Board, by

         16  adding more of these acreage into its expansion

         17  area, gives the responsibility of managing the

         18  quality of life of that area to the Local

         19  Development Corporation of East New York.  So, by

         20  amending these areas into the zone, LDC of East New

         21  York, together with the Zone Administrative Board

         22  are responsible for improving the quality of life in

         23  the Downstate Medical Center, however distant it is

         24  away from the actual zone cluster.  So, your concern

         25  as to its distance away from the actual zone is not
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          2  warranted, I believe.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  I think it

          4  is.  I think it is warranted.  When you talk about

          5  establishing jobs and you have a goal for a

          6  particular community -- first of all, the

          7  demographics of the communities are totally

          8  different.  We can start there.  And so, you're

          9  going to have to look at the specific needs of the

         10  community that you're coming into and address that

         11  there.  I would want to see, to be quite honest with

         12  you, some sort of planning that looks at how

         13  employment opportunities are actually going to be

         14  addressed because I don't see how we can talk about

         15  part of the zone being in a completely different

         16  community.  If you look here, you're actually

         17  crossing about four different boundaries to get to

         18  CUNY- Downstate and there's an employment situation

         19  in that community.  I want to see a plan that talks

         20  about how the people that live in that community,

         21   'cause you're right in the residential community,

         22  are gonna be receiving preference for the

         23  opportunities at that incubator.  You know, I don't

         24  want to know that people are taking buses cross town

         25  to come and work here when the people that live
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          2  there are unemployed.  So, I think there are some

          3  very logistical concerns springing from this very

          4  community that need to be addressed forthrightly and

          5  immediately with that community.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  If I can say as

          7  a point of information, this is the first hearing

          8  that we're going to do on this issue, so there will

          9  be a time to further flesh out any and all.  You

         10  don't have to have all the answers, but if you have

         11  an answer for her now, that's fine.

         12                 UNE CHO:  I would just add that

         13  although the LDC of East New York is involved in the

         14  Administration of the empire zone, I think what

         15  Deputy Commissioner Newhouse was referring to in the

         16  commercial revitalization was designed to address

         17  your question that we would work with groups in the

         18  immediate area of Downstate on those issues.

         19                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  I think we can also

         20  identify specific goals in the development plan for

         21  the zone around outreach work that the zone should

         22  take on in terms of relating to specific

         23  communities, perhaps the ones immediately around

         24  where the Downstate Center is, on- the- job training

         25  and job opportunities and that sort of thing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  If there are no

          3  final questions for this panel at this time, then I

          4  want to thank you for joining us again.  It seems

          5  that you're becoming regulars here also.  We look

          6  forward to working with you until we find the right

          7  match for the right communities, including this one.

          8    Thank you very much for being here.

          9                 MR. NEWHOUSE:  Thanks so much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I believe that

         11  we have many people who can answer the very

         12  questions that we have raised and they are, of

         13  course, the LDC of East New York. We're going to

         14  call them and I will apologize that they will have

         15  three minutes to speak.  I'm going to make it a

         16  military three minutes, a real three minutes to

         17  speak on this particular issue since this is the

         18  first of several conversations that we will have.

         19  We look forward to the dialogue.

         20                 As you sit down and take your water,

         21  please, you can identify yourself and begin for the

         22  record.  When that button is off, when that red

         23  button is off, the microphone is on.  When that red

         24  button is lit, that mike is not on.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Good
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          2  afternoon.  Thank you for being here.

          3                 MR. WILKINS:  Good afternoon.  My

          4  name is William Wilkins.  I'm the East Brooklyn

          5  Empire Zone Coordinator working for the Local

          6  Development Corporation of East New York.  I am

          7  joined today by Sherry Roberts, the Executive

          8  Director of LDCENY.

          9                 The Local Development Corporation of

         10  East New York was formed 23 years ago by area

         11  businesses.  Our mission is to provide economic

         12  development services to the East Brooklyn community

         13  and city at large.  The LDCNY program areas are

         14  entrepreneurial training, commercial revitalization

         15  and industrial development.  The LDC helped to form

         16  the first industrial park and the first industrial

         17  BID in New York City.  It was the first of 58

         18  designated empire zones and one of the first three

         19  of 22 entrepreneurial assistance centers in the

         20  state.  Also, the LDC of East New York is the home

         21  of the only women's business center in Brooklyn.

         22                 The Local Development Corporation of

         23  East New York is pleased to have the opportunity to

         24  make a statement today regarding the proposed

         25  expansion of the East Brooklyn empire zone.  The LDC
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          2  has successfully administered the Brooklyn empire

          3  zone since 1987.  The East Brooklyn zone has

          4  realized over $191,322,868 in private investment and

          5  created over 5,365 jobs.  It has also been

          6  instrumental in developing over 558 acres of land.

          7                 Since the inception of the East

          8  Brooklyn empire zone 16 years ago, the zone has

          9  remained at 1.28 square miles, well below the 2

         10  square mile allowable limit. The business

         11  development and increase in residential housing that

         12  has occurred since then, combined with the developed

         13  underway or scheduled, dictates that now is the

         14  prudent and opportune time to force the economic

         15  development and sustain economic growth for the East

         16  Brooklyn community.

         17                 While Brooklyn has enjoyed a great

         18  deal of benefits from the prosperous economy, there

         19  are still many communities and people -- of the East

         20  Brooklyn empire zone contains communities where

         21  unemployment and poverty rates are far above average

         22  (sic).  The structural imbalance of the economy is

         23  acutely felt when examining two of the six eligible

         24  census tracks in the proposed amendment,

         25  corresponding to the courier area and the Biotech
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          2  Park. There 31.2% and 20.6% respectively of the

          3  population lives below the poverty line and the

          4  unemployment hovers at 18.2% and 11.7%.  This

          5  signals that with incentives for growth and

          6  additional investment, residents of these

          7  communities will be able to access many of the jobs

          8  created.

          9                 Expanding the East Brooklyn empire

         10  zone will create hundreds of new jobs.  This new

         11  economic opportunity will help revitalize these

         12  communities and create real hope for the future.

         13                 The primary economic development

         14  goals of the East Brooklyn empire zone include

         15  reducing the zone unemployment rate, securing $20

         16  million in public and private investments over the

         17  next two years, improving the quality of life in the

         18  neighborhoods within the East Brooklyn empire zone

         19  and providing assistance to minority women- owned

         20  business enterprise.

         21                 Human resource goals include

         22  providing East Brooklyn empire zone businesses with

         23  well- trained and qualified workers, promoting

         24  linkages between East Brooklyn empire zone

         25  businesses with employment and training programs,
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          2  providing zone youth with access to opportunities of

          3  internship, mentorship and employment in cooperation

          4  with zone- certified businesses.

          5                 In sum, the East Brooklyn empire zone

          6  will spur the growth of manufacturing in some of New

          7  York City's most affordable MI zoned land, further

          8  develop East Brooklyn as a destination for growing

          9  manufacturing and industrial firms, preventing

         10  relocating to other states and regions, arrest the

         11  decline of manufacturing and the loss of blue collar

         12  jobs, provide zone benefits for the only Biotech

         13  Park located in the outer boroughs, help ensure that

         14  growth benefits the local residential community

         15  through linkages with employment and training

         16  providers who are part of the zone initiative.

         17                 Again, on behalf of the Local

         18  Development Corporation of East New York, I'd like

         19  to thank you for this opportunity to be here with

         20  you today and thank you for your consideration.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Mr. Wilkins,

         22  Ms. Roberts, a pleasure to have you here this

         23  afternoon.  I will yield the first question to any

         24  of my colleagues that want to raise one.  Council

         25  Member Dilan.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Such

          3  privilege, Mr. Chair.

          4                 Ms. Roberts, Mr. Wilkins, good to see

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Hold your mike

          7  just a little bit more.  We want to hear you, sir.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Good to see

          9  you.  I think you've heard my opening statement of

         10  support of this project, but I just would like to

         11  maybe ask you the same questions that I posed on the

         12  administration.  The first was in regard to the air

         13  courier industry.  Has the LDC received any interest

         14  within this zone from the air courier industry,

         15  given its proximity to Kennedy Airport?

         16                 MR. WILKINS:  The whole design of

         17  deeming it a courier cargo area came out of the

         18  Center for Urban Future.  That was released about

         19  two years ago.  That indicated the lack of

         20  investment by the City in the infrastructure of JFK

         21  where airplane hangers were being used as warehouse

         22  and distribution points.

         23                 In looking at and analyzing M1 areas

         24  in our zone, we decided that it would be a prudent

         25  step to try and help the infrastructure of JFK with
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          2  some of the available land that's in East Brooklyn.

          3  Of course, Federal Express and UPS are there.  There

          4  are some difficulties with travel as it relates to

          5  using the Belt Parkway and commercial traffic having

          6  to use the Van Wyck or Atlantic Avenue we thought

          7  that it would potentially be an alternative, not a

          8  primary source, not a direct effect, but as an

          9  alternative for business not to move to Newark where

         10  they could consider coming to probably East Brooklyn

         11  for maybe some of their spillage or overage that's

         12  not being handled by South Queens or Far Rockaway.

         13  And that's really the intent on how this whole idea

         14  came about of the courier cargo.

         15                 To answer your question directly, we

         16  have not begun marketing to attract businesses.  We

         17  find ourselves to be more of an alternative site to

         18  all of the development and investment that's

         19  happening at JFK.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Okay.  Thank

         21  you.

         22                 Mr. Chairman, I guess if you ever

         23  become of any spillage in the South Jamaica area,

         24  these are the individuals that you should contact.

         25                 Secondly, I'd like to say in light of
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          2  the new development that has happened in area A,

          3  that's where the new and beautiful mall is, have you

          4  heard from any businesses?  Have they expressed any

          5  security concerns or other concerns?  Because I

          6  think locally you and I both know, because we're

          7  from the area, the problems that the 75th Precinct

          8  has.  I think that overall they need more assistance

          9  in order to make this area more attractive to

         10  business.  I just wanted to see -- hear your

         11  comments.

         12                 MR. WILKINS:  Well, as you're aware

         13  Inspector Secretro (phonetic) has put a lot of the

         14  resources

         15  of the 75th in monitoring and patrolling the Gateway

         16  Estates development.  Also from, I mean, the center

         17  is very profitable.  I guess from our zone

         18  standpoint, it really affords a community- based

         19  organization an opportunity to have ongoing dialogue

         20  in an industry that has a high degree of turnover,

         21  so we're hopeful that we would be able to place area

         22  residents in some of the positions at Gateway.  As

         23  far as the security issues, from talking to the

         24  store managers there haven't been any major

         25  incidents of record that I'm aware of presently.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Okay.  And

          3  then, Mr. Chairman, if you allow me, on another

          4  subject.  If you could give me a brief answer.  The

          5  East New York Industrial Park, how many homeless

          6  shelters have been placed within the East New York

          7  Industrial Park recently?  Just a quick answer, if

          8  you could.

          9                 MR. WILKINS:  One.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  One?

         11                 MR. WILKINS:  That I know of.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Ms. Roberts,

         13  you care to comment?

         14                 MS. ROBERTS:  Well, recently is one,

         15  but it's already home to -- there is one building

         16  and that one building houses three.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  One that

         18  houses three.

         19                 MS. ROBERTS:  One building on William

         20  Street, 116 William Street --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Yeah.

         22                 MS. ROBERTS:  -- Houses three

         23  already.  It's been there for --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  And if I'm

         25  correct --
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          2                 MS. ROBERTS:  -- 20 years or so.

          3  A              COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  If I'm

          4  correct, this is --

          5                 MS. ROBERTS:  And then there's

          6  another --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  There's

          8  another on the way.

          9                 MS. ROBERTS:  -- That's on the way.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Okay.  Thank

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  It doesn't look

         13  like there's much room for spillage, sir.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  I had to get

         15  that in, so you could understand the problem.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I don't blame

         17  you.  It seems that you don't have much room for

         18  spillage and perhaps we'll just let you keep your

         19  cup full.

         20                 I will come back to the cargo issue,

         21  but I do want to hear from my colleagues.  I believe

         22  Councilman Reyna had a question first.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chair. As the local group who works the streets, so

         25  to speak, making sure that job retention is a
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          2  successful endeavor, I want to ask, putting these

          3  new sites aside from the empire zone, how many jobs

          4  have you seen created through the existing empire

          5  zone and/or how many jobs have been retained with

          6  the existing empire zone?

          7                 MR. WILKINS:  To be honest, the

          8  question is a little difficult to answer.  I can

          9  state that the 2001 business annual reports

         10  indicated we had about 4,600 employees.  2,000 --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  In East New

         12  York.

         13                 MR. WILKINS:  In the East Brooklyn

         14  empire zone collectively.  All of the businesses

         15  employing 4,600 individuals.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And that would

         17  only be in Williamsburg, Bushwick and East New York?

         18                 MR. WILKINS:  No, just East Brooklyn

         19   -- just East New York.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Just East New

         21  York.

         22  Just East New York.  Okay.

         23                 MR. WILKINS:  The variance being in

         24  2001 that number was increased to 5,365, so that's

         25  about a 800 new jobs was increased in that one
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          2  period.  Presently we are collecting the data for

          3  2002 to see how the numbers fall out.  Of course,

          4  with 9/11 and other downturns in the economy we

          5  really won't know until we get all of the

          6  information back from the businesses.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So judging

          8  from what you're telling me, the empire zone has

          9  been a success in East New York?

         10                 MR. WILKINS:  Correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Council Member

         13  Clarke.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chair. I was just going over some of the

         16  materials that were given to me today.  As I was

         17  reading it I thought to myself, I find it quite

         18  strange that I'm reading this for the first time

         19  today, being the Council member that represents an

         20  area that wants to be designated as an empire zone,

         21  being a Council member who's already invested

         22  significant tax levy dollars into a project that is

         23  being considered for expansion in the empire zone.

         24                 What I found, actually, is some

         25  inaccuracies in some of the materials that I see
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          2  presented here with respect to the selling of how

          3  this zone should be or why the zone should be

          4  expanded to coming over to this area.  I think that

          5  there needs to be a lot more dialogue and discussion

          6  about this, I think.

          7                 Personally I'm an economic

          8  development person.  I think it's a great idea,

          9  however the procedure by which this has come about,

         10  I'm not pleased with it.  I'm just gonna state that,

         11  and I don't know who the powers that be are in this

         12  equation, but none of them have contacted me.

         13  None of them have contacted me.

         14                 I sit on the Economic Development

         15  Committee. I've brought dollars into this project.

         16  My predecessor brought dollars into this project.  I

         17  live five blocks from here.  There's no reason why I

         18  wasn't consulted in any way, form or fashion other

         19  than to ask when is my financial allocation coming

         20  through and how will I hold the line on the dollars

         21  for this project.  Okay.  I don't think that's

         22  right.

         23            There has to be some discussion because

         24  I'm concerned about the people that live in the 40th

         25  District, not the people that live in five districts
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          2  over from me.

          3                 At this point my questions are really

          4  immaterial because I'm very upset with the way this

          5  thing went down.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I will also

          7  weigh in and -- first let me encourage you guys.  I

          8  think that economic development for East New York

          9  and other communities is critical, has to happen,

         10  and I think that this is fantastic that we are

         11  pushing through and that you have some concepts.

         12                 We're a very thorough committee up

         13  here as you can see and we want to make sure that

         14  the best project for New York City as a whole and

         15  East New York specifically is the one that occurs.

         16  I, of course, have some concerns, but we can speak

         17  later at another moment about courier service and

         18  things of this nature.  If there is a way of doing

         19  it, then we should.

         20                 If we are talking about getting

         21  things from outside of New York City, getting jobs

         22  and businesses to come here and to do some things, I

         23  think this is fantastic. If we're talking about

         24  retaining what we have in this city, I think this is

         25  very good.  Of course, I'm sure you folks are not
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          2  speaking of poaching, taking from one area for

          3  another area.  That's not as good.  But I'm sure

          4  that that's not the issue that we're going to

          5  discuss.  So, I look forward in the future to speak

          6  with you away from these cameras so we can really

          7  have some dialogue and if you would take in the

          8  concerns and considerations of Council Member Clarke

          9  also and Council Member Dilan, who has raised very

         10  carefully, very forcefully that he was in favor of

         11  these --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  If I may be --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  By all means.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  If I may be

         15  allowed, I'd like to just try to get more

         16  information because I'd like to try to clear some of

         17  these things up.

         18                 In the central Brooklyn area that

         19  Councilman -- the Flatbush area that Council Member

         20  Clarke represents and maybe if the Counsel to the

         21  Committee could help us out.

         22  Is there another empire zone within that area that

         23  would allow the benefits to go to the biotech

         24  incubator?

         25                 MR. WILKINS:  Can I respond?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  No, but empire

          3  zones have the ability to stretch beyond their --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  I'm looking

          5  for a response.  I'd like to hear.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Sir.

          7                 MR. WILKINS:  This came about -- we

          8  are the closest empire zone to the biotech area.  We

          9  were selected, in a sense -- does this make sense?

         10  As you move forward with your next boundary

         11  amendment, could you include us. Doing a study of

         12  how the biotech area's really played out upstate,

         13  not downstate, no pun intended, it made good sense

         14  to us.

         15                 As we move forward and try and

         16  develop relationships and linkages, one point that

         17  I'd like to raise is that in census tracks 804 and

         18  818, which comprise the Downstate Biotech Park, we

         19  are aware of the fact that the poverty rate is 24.4%

         20  and the unemployment rate is 9.9 and also 20.6%, or

         21  below the poverty line.  It is not our intent to

         22  help create a biotech center for jobs for residents

         23  in East New York.  We are classified as the East

         24  Brooklyn empire zone.

         25                 It is our intent and it's also been
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          2  our historical perspective to try and designate that

          3  residents in the zip codes of the Biotech Park would

          4  be the first residents that we would have or

          5  introduce to employment opportunities at Downstate.

          6                 I would like to personally apologize

          7  on behalf of myself.  I'm doing a lot of

          8  intergovernmental affairs and dealing with almost

          9  four or five Councilmen.  I didn't neglect you as to

         10  be discourteous, but I thought that our relationship

         11   -- and by talking to the Executive Director of

         12  Downstate that our communication was also being

         13  shared by you.  So, I do apologize for that.

         14                 We do look forward to working with

         15  you and your insight and intelligence, bringing it

         16  to the table, is really going to help us see the

         17  things that we are not skilled in in East Flatbush.

         18  Your knowledge and constituents -- we don't have --

         19  we're not on the finger of the pulse in East Flat --

         20  it is a stretch.  It's a logistical stretch, and

         21  it's something that we are willing to roll up our

         22  sleeves and work in cooperation with you

         23  intelligently to bring resources of the zone's

         24  program to Downstate.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Mr. Chair --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  By all means,

          3  sir.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  If I may, I

          5  appreciate your answer, but I think what we need to

          6  do as a committee is maybe have some dialogue with

          7  the Department of Business Services as to why they

          8  haven't informed the affected Council members.  I

          9  mean, I was informed by this committee well after --

         10  I was informed by this committee and not by the

         11  Department of Business Services so, therefore, I had

         12  no particular input in shaping some of this.

         13                 There's some of the things here that

         14  I would have liked to have seen extended, but I

         15  don't view that to be the fault of the Local

         16  Development Corporation.  I view that to be the

         17  fault of the Department of Business Services, and I

         18  think that the negative energy that Councilman

         19  Clarke feels and that I feel, but have not let

         20  forward, should be channeled more toward them.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Well, I agree,

         22  but I just don't see it as negative energy.  I see

         23  it as points of clarification, points that you folks

         24  are raising to help DBS move more positively.  I

         25  agree with you that DBS, I'm sure in their haste to
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          2  do good things for the City, has moved a touch too

          3  hasty in terms of not cooperating -- not -- let me

          4  get rid of that word "cooperating" and say

          5  consulting, further consulting with their partners

          6  in this process and, of course, the City Council.

          7                 The beauty of this first hearing was

          8  we all got a chance to hear things.  We all got a

          9  chance to put things on the table and now we have a

         10  chance to move away from the cameras to do the hard

         11  work that will lead to a very, very positive outcome

         12  that all of these communities desperately need in

         13  the way that New York City deserves to have that.

         14                 I believe that we have a commitment

         15  from the LDC of East New York and I know that we

         16  have a commitment from my colleagues up here that we

         17  will wrestle together and we will have fun with DBS

         18  as we come up with the things that we need to do.

         19                 I've been told that I also have two

         20  more people who will speak on this issue.  And if

         21  that's the case, my friends, I will let you good

         22  people go and do good work for the people of East

         23  New York.  If you have extra maps, I sure -- I love

         24  maps, my friend, I'm one of those map type of

         25  people.  We will call our next two witnesses.  I

                                                            85

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  know they had brown maps, black maps.  These are

          3  blue maps. I like black maps, too.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Will Mike

          5  DeFazio and Fernando Martinez please come to the --

          6  are there any other witnesses out there, anyone else

          7  who would like to testify today?  Can you join us

          8  and give us -- I would like each of you to give us

          9  your name and your affiliation for the record.

         10                 MR. MARTINEZ:  Good afternoon.  My

         11  name is Fernando Martinez.  I am the Executive

         12  Director for the Downstate Advanced Biotechnology

         13  Incubator and Biotech Park.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  If you could

         15  say that again, sir, I was --

         16                 MR. MARTINEZ:  Sure, no problem.  My

         17  name is Fernando Martinez.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  A pleasure.

         19                 MR. MARTINEZ:  I'm the Executive

         20  Director for the Advanced Biotechnology Park at SUNY

         21  Downstate Medical Center.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Where is that

         23  located? Which Council district, sir?

         24                 MR. MARTINEZ:  Council District 40.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Oh, okay.  Just
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          2  wanted to be clear.

          3                 MR. MARTINEZ:  No problem.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Things move

          5  around a lot.

          6                 MR. MARTINEZ:  Good afternoon,

          7  Chairman Sanders and fellow members of the City

          8  Council.  Thank you for inviting me to speak to you

          9  about the East New York empire zone boundary

         10  revision this afternoon.

         11                 SUNY Downstate Medical Center is the

         12  only academic medical center in Brooklyn, Queens and

         13  Staten Island.  It has 1500 students and employs

         14  approximately 4,000 people.  Downstate has a strong

         15  track record of providing the medical industry with

         16  the best prepared medical professionals and is

         17  nationally recognized for its academic and

         18  scientific research.

         19                 For instance, Downstate ranks seventh

         20  nationally in the number of alumni who are on the

         21  faculty of American medical schools.  The MRI was

         22  developed at Downstate in 1977 and in 1998 Dr.

         23  Robert Furcgott won the Nobel Prize in medicine.

         24                 Building on its strengths and

         25  recognizing the need to provide space for the
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          2  commercialization of discoveries made in the

          3  biosciences, Downstate has begun to redevelop

          4  underutilized and vacant manufacturing buildings

          5  into a biotechnology park.

          6                 The park will form a cluster of

          7  health- related industries that will foster

          8  scientific, medical and technological discoveries.

          9  In 2001 the constructing of a 13,000 square foot

         10  biotech lab for ImClone Systems represented the

         11  first critical step in the development of the park.

         12  ImClone, headquartered in Manhattan, invested

         13  approximately $4 million for a satellite facility

         14  adjacent to Downstate.

         15                 The biotech facility currently

         16  employs 30 people and it plans to create an

         17  additional 25 jobs.  Downstate itself, with the

         18  support of Council Member Clarke and her predecessor

         19  is developing a 50,000 square foot biotechnology

         20  incubator to meet the needs of startup and more

         21  mature biotechnology companies.  At full occupancy

         22  the incubator can accommodate up to 30 companies and

         23  employ approximately 200 people.

         24                 Revising the East New York empire

         25  zone boundaries to include the Biotech Park is
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          2  important for a number of reasons.

          3                 First, it will diversify the local

          4  economy for the empire zone.

          5                 Second, it will make the Biotech Park

          6  competitive with other locations such as New Jersey.

          7                 Third, companies will have incentives

          8  to hire empire zone residents; and, finally, it will

          9  attract development of ancillary businesses and

         10  services to the area and contribute to the overall

         11  economic revitalization that is occurring in

         12  Brooklyn.

         13                 Thank you.  I will respectfully will

         14  receive any questions that you may have.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  In a moment or

         16  two we will hear from the other panels.  Thank you

         17  very much, sir. At your leisure.

         18                 MR. DeFAZIO:  Good afternoon.  My

         19  name is Mike DeFazio and I'm Vice- President of

         20  Alpha Packaging.

         21                 In December of 2001 Gutmann Plastics

         22  was sold to Alpha Plastics of St. Louis, Missouri.

         23  Gutmann was renamed Alpha Plastics of New York.  If

         24  Alpha had not stepped in and bought Gutmann at this

         25  time the company most likely would have closed and
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          2  the assets would have been sold off and 55 to 60

          3  people would have lost their jobs.

          4                 When Gutmann was purchased in 2001,

          5  the company had sales of $3.9 million and employed

          6  roughly 55 people.  In 2002, which was just closed

          7  out, we had sales of $6 million and we employed 57

          8  people, 37 of which are members of the Local 3,

          9  Queens- based electrical union. Sales for 2003 are

         10  on track to exceed $7.8 million and we expect to add

         11  five to six people a year going forward. Total St.

         12  Louis and New York sales exceed $34 million.

         13                 Alpha Packaging, the trade name for

         14  both companies, sells high density and PET plastic

         15  bottles to the pharmaceutical, nutriceutical and

         16  health and beauty markets.

         17                 Our products are shipped to almost

         18  all 50 states and international locations such as

         19  India, Israel and most of Europe.  75% of our sales

         20  flow through our distributor networks in the

         21  remaining 25% are direct sales to end users.

         22                 Since 2001 we've invested about $2.5

         23  million for equipment, molds and an office facelift.

         24    In conjunction with our next door neighbor,

         25  FoodPro, we're investing another $2 million for a
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          2  stand- alone cogen system which will take us off the

          3  Con Ed grid, which will save great savings to both

          4  Alpha, FoodPro and it'll be a benefit to Con Ed.

          5                 Finally, we're working with the

          6  Empire State Development Group on training grants

          7  and state tax relief. This tax relief will only come

          8  if our location is added to the aforementioned

          9  empire zone, therefore, the zoning effort is of

         10  great importance, not only to Alpha, FoodPro but the

         11  surrounding companies in census track 1098.

         12                 MR. LOCONTE:  Good afternoon, ladies

         13  and gentlemen.  My name is Michael Loconte.  I'm the

         14  President of Jersey Lynne Farms located at 8801

         15  Foster Avenue, Brooklyn, New York.

         16                 Jersey Lynne Farms was originated in

         17  1967 by my dad, Vito Loconte.  My father started

         18  selling eggs in a small room on Avenue D in Brooklyn

         19  in 1969.  My father believed a family could always

         20  afford to feed themselves on a dozen eggs and

         21  receive enough nutritious value to survive no matter

         22  how bad the economy became.  As time went on and the

         23  hard work invested by my family, my dad was able to

         24  purchase the entire block comprising of 58,000

         25  square feet.
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          2                 Jersey Lynne Farms currently carries

          3  1700 different products, supplying the needs of the

          4  New York City and surrounding communities. Jersey

          5  Lynne Farms presently employs 60 individuals.

          6                 I am here to inform you that the area

          7  businesses are very ecstatic about the proposed

          8  boundary amendment.  The business owners in the

          9  Brooklyn Terminal Market as well as ourselves have

         10  felt the effects of the changing business conditions

         11  due to the economy, lack of support, changing laws

         12  and government regulations, higher energy costs,

         13  insurance premiums, et cetera.

         14                 Collectively, we all have expansion

         15  plans on hold.  We're trying to survive and handle

         16  our business on a day- to- day basis.  Our plans of

         17  expanding and bettering our business is on hold

         18  because of a lack of access to capital and

         19  conditions already mentioned.

         20                 In particular, Jersey Lynne Farms,

         21  Inc. Would like to build some freezers and

         22  refrigerator space in the 13,000 square foot of

         23  unused space.  However, we cannot due to the cost of

         24  electricity and lack of funds.

         25                 However, Assembly Frank Seddio and
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          2  the Local Development Corporation of East New York

          3  have worked very hard to help and improve all the

          4  businesses in this area. Jersey Lynne Farms from

          5  time to time spoke about moving out of this

          6  community to a different area where there are funds

          7  available to help businesses like ours grow and

          8  prosper.

          9                 However, the proposed boundary

         10  amendment would be a significant economic stimulus

         11  to this area.  We are certain that the zone's

         12  program will increase the level of investment and

         13  job opportunities in this area.

         14                 Thank you for listening to my

         15  comments on behalf of the business owners in my

         16  area.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I thank all

         18  three of you for coming out today.  Let me quickly

         19  add that, stay put.  I think that you'll do well in

         20  our part of town.  I think that what you have heard

         21  really does not affect you. I can even give you the

         22  conclusion of this argument.

         23                 Yes, we will do a great project

         24  together in your community.  You, the businesses,

         25  will do well.  What you've heard is a desire to make

                                                            93

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  sure that it's tailored to the community and does it

          3  the way that is good for New York City.  So, I would

          4  assure you that you're in good hands with the LDC of

          5  East New York and your Assembly member and the good

          6  people up here.

          7                 Now, if my colleagues have any

          8  questions for these gentlemen.

          9                 My friends, I look forward to working

         10  with you.  This may be our last time of seeing each

         11  other, but I suspect that we, at another meeting,

         12  will have the pleasure of coming here -- of you

         13  coming back here and seeing us. I've had the

         14  pleasure of tasting the food of the Jersey Lynne.  I

         15  kind of like New York Lynne, but that's all right.

         16  That's all right, we'll take what we can get.

         17  Surely you're talking about the cow, Jersey, and not

         18  that unspeakable other place which we never mention

         19  here.

         20                 Sir, you wanted to say something.

         21                 MR. MARTINEZ:  Yes.  Thank you,

         22  Chairman.  I just wanted to state for the record

         23  that Council Member Clarke has been a strong

         24  advocate for not only the biotech incubator but also

         25  for SUNY Downstate Medical Center.  Her leadership
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          2  has been well- received and something that we need

          3  in the community.  She's been very supportive on a

          4  number of issues that she's mentioned, the

          5  sanitation garage located across the street,

          6  literally, from two major health centers, not only

          7  Downstate but Kings County as well.  And she's been

          8  very supportive with the biotech incubator.  In this

          9  past city budget she allocated $2 million for

         10  capital construction project.

         11                 I invite you all, actually, to come

         12  and visit our facility.  It's under construction

         13  right now, so you'll be seeing steel and men

         14  working, but we also have the ImClone facility which

         15  is actually a wonderful state- of- the art facility.

         16    The target is to employ about 55 people.  I

         17  actually review the applications when they come in

         18  and I would say about 60% of those people are

         19  Brooklyn residents.

         20                 So, the future is bright for

         21  biotechnology and the future's bright with the

         22  leadership of Council Member Clarke in the 40th

         23  District.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I will concur

         25  with you there.  She has been always assertive and
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          2  on occasion aggressive in her pursuit of bringing

          3  economic development to New York City in general and

          4  to her district in particular.

          5                 In fact, the first thing I remember

          6  saying to her, I said, "Hi, my name's James

          7  Sanders."  And she said, "Incubator, Brooklyn."

          8  Then I understood her style and, you know, it's a

          9  style thing.  I've grown used to it from there. So

         10  she's extremely clear what that incubator can do.

         11  So, if you hear anything that sounds like passion,

         12  it's -- that's exactly what it is.

         13                 I look forward to working with you in

         14  the near future.  Gentlemen, you are dismissed.  Go

         15  and do good work for the people of New York.  And

         16  Jersey, that's fine, but New York Lynne.  It has a

         17  nice ring to it.

         18                 MR. LOCONTE:  One day I'll tell you

         19  the story how the name evolved.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Okay.  We can

         21  create the name, the way that the name changes.

         22                 MR. LOCONTE:  Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  My friends, if

         24  there is anyone on this committee that wants to --

         25  any final words from my colleagues.  If not, then

                                                            96

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  this meeting is now officially adjourned.

          3                 Thank you very much for your time and

          4  attention.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 3:25 p.m.)
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